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opposite way, and it was the Constitution that dawdled behind 
conviction. Again it proved unfeasible to close the gap by statutory 
or amendatory procedures, and again it became the embarrassing 
task of the Supreme Court to effect an accommodation, a 
rationalization. Once more the justices scrutinized the words of the 
Fourteenth Amendment, and this time they discovered that those 
words really meant what they said, and presumably had all along. 
The old debt that the court had once declared invalid they now 
pronounced valid. 

Although this was acknowledged to be a national debt, in the 
nature of things it would have to be paid by a special levy that fell 
with disproportionate heaviness upon one section of the country. 
The South had been called on before to bear the brunt of a guilty 
national conscience. It is now called on a second time. 61 

61 

This extended metaphor takes us beyond the time of To Kill a Mockingbird, 
which is set in the 1930s, in the town of Maycomb, Alabama. 62 Although 
lawyers like Atticus provide reason for hope, it is well before the dawn of the 
Civil Rights era. We might say that this was part of the pre-dawn. But it is still 
night. The near lynching of Tom Robinson on the eve of trial is grim evidence 
of that. But we should not discount the importance of Atticus' s all-night vigil at 
the jail, armed only with a newspaper. Regardless of his chances of winning the 
case, he risked his life so that Tom Robinson could be tried in court, and not on 
the street. 

III. THE TRIAL 

The trial itself was relatively short. 63 There were four witnesses-three 
called by the prosecution and one called by the defense. Atticus's daughter, 
Scout, remained the narrator for these events as she viewed the trial from the 
balcony reserved for the blacks. Using her powers of recall, she set the scene in 
the courtroom, commenting on the judge's appearance and demeanor. Judge 
Taylor was "amiable, white-haired, slightly ruddy-faced, he was a man who ran 
his court with an alarming informality."64 That informality was not to be taken 
for lack of control, as one lawyer had quickly learned when he thought the judge 
may have been dozing. 65 Judge Taylor was "learned in the law" and "kept a 
firm grip on any proceedings that came before him. 66 

61. C. VANN WOODWARD, THE BURDEN OF SOUTHERN HISTORY 84-86 (1960). 
62. Maycomb is a fictional town, modeled after the author's own home town of Monroeville, 

Alabama. HEY Boo, supra note 3. 
63. The following section contains several excerpts from the book. These excerpts have been 

altered to read like a trial transcript. 
64. LEE, supra note 1, at 188. 
65. Id. 
66. Id. 



62 SOUTH DAKOTA LAW REVIEW Vol. 61 

A. SHERIFF TATE 

Sheriff Tate was called by the prosecution to lay the foundation of the case 
through the eyes of a more or less neutral observer. As Scout settled in upstairs, 
Sheriff Tate was already on the stand.67 He was describing how, on November 
21, Bob Ewell had come to his office very excited and told him to go to the 
Ewell house. When the sheriff arrived, he saw Ewell's daughter, Mayella, lying 
on the floor: "She was pretty well beat up, but I heaved her to her feet and she 
washed her face in a bucket in the corner and said she was all right. I asked her 
who hurt her and she said it was Tom Robinson. "68 He asked her if Robinson 
took advantage of her and she said yes he did.69 The sheriffwent to Robinson's 
house and brought him back. Mayella identified Robinson as the one who had 
attacked her, and so he was arrested. "That's all there was to it."70 

On cross-examination, Atticus asked if Tate had called a doctor or if anyone 
had called a doctor? "No, sir." Atticus asked Tate to describe her injuries. 

[Tate]: Well, she was beaten around the head. There was 
already bruises comin' on her arms . . . . She had a 
black eye comin'. 

[ Atticus]: Which eye? 71 

After some prompting, Tate stated, "Oh yes, that'd make it her right. It was 
her ri~ht eye, Mr. Finch. I remember now, she was bunged up on that side of her 
face." 2 Atticus asked Tate to repeat his testimony. 

[Tate]: It was her right eye, I said. 
[Atticus]: No ... ?3 

The court reporter read back his testimony that it was the right side of her 
face (i.e., not just the eye). 

[ Atticus]: Which side again ... ? 
[Tate]: The right side, Mr. Finch, but she had more 

bruises-you wanta hear about 'em? 74 

Having let the witness get away here, Atticus obliged with the follow up, 
"Yes, what were her other injuries?" 

67. 
68. 
69. 
70. 
71. 
72. 
73. 
74. 

[Tate]: [H]er arms were bruised, and she showed me her 
neck. There were definite finger marks on her 
gullet-

[ Atticus]: All around her throat? 
[Tate]: I would say all around, Mr. Finch. 

Jd. at 189. 
Jd. at 191. 
!d. 
!d. 
!d. at 192. 
!d. 
Jd. at 193. 
!d. 
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[Atticus]: You would? 
[Tate]: Yes sir, she had a small throat, anybody could'a 

reached around it with-75 

63 

Atticus cut off the rest of the answer before it could get any worse. With 
that, Sheriff Tate stepped down from the witness stand. 

B. BOBEWELL 

Through the eyes of Scout, Harper Lee drew her villain well and she was 
not kind.76 Blissfully unaware of how he appeared in court, Bob Ewell seemed 
pleased to be there. His initial cocky attempt at humor, however, was cut short 
by Judge Taylor's admonishment to behave.77 The prosecutor asked Ewell to 
describe in his own words what happened on the evening ofNovember 21. After 
several more crude attempts at humor, Ewell fmally made the charge: 

"Well, Mayella was raisin' this holy racket so I dropped m'load and 
run as fast as I could but I run into th' fence, but when I got 
distangled I run up to th' window and I seen-" Mr. Ewells' face 
grew scarlet. He stood up and pointed his finger at Tom Robinson. 
"-I seen that black n***** yonder ruttin' on my Mayella!"78 

Judge Taylor took several minutes to quiet the courtroom while Ewell watched 
smugly. He did not appear to mind another lecture from the judge. 79 For 
perhaps the only time in his life, he was the center of attention. 

75. !d. Atticus seemed to have been caught by surprise by the bruises around the neck testimony 
and so his habitual technique of asking the witness to repeat an answer did not serve him well. The 
repetitions were increasingly damaging until Atticus cut off the witness. It certainly dissipated the 
strategy of focusing on the right side of the victim's face. Id. 

76. As Scout narrates: 
' ... Robert E. Lee Ewell!' 
In answer to the clerk's booming voice, a little bantam cock of a man rose and 

strutted to the stand, the back of his neck reddening at the sound of his name. When he 
turned around to take the oath, we saw that his face was as red as his neck. We also saw 
no resemblance to his namesake. A shock of wispy new-washed hair stood up from his 
forehead; his nose was thin, pointed, and shiny; he had no chin to speak of-it seemed to 
be a part of his crepey neck. 

'-so help me God,' he crowed. 
Every town the size of Maycomb had families like the Ewells. No economic 

fluctuations changed their status-people like the Ewells lived as guests of the county in 
prosperity as well as in the depths of a depression. No truant officers could keep their 
numerous offspring in school; no public health officer could free them from congenital 
defects, various worms, and the diseases indigenous to filthy surroundings. 

!d. at 194. The description goes on, but this is enough for our purposes. 
77. !d. at 197. 
78. !d. I apologize for the language quoted here, but I believe it is necessary in order to convey 

how openly racist Ewell was in this public setting. The reaction in the courtroom was not on account of 
the racist language, but to his description of what the defendant was doing. Racism was not shocking, 
but talk of sex was. And, in comparison, the language used by Chief Justice Taney, speaking for the 
Supreme Court of the United States, is far more offensive than the epithets of a mean-spirited fictional 
character. Both should be quoted in order to understand what we are dealing with. 

79. Id. at 199. 
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The prosecutor, Mr. Gilmer, tried to keep a close rein on the witness as he 
led him through the scene, but Ewell still managed to get in another racist 
comment in remonse to the question of how he knew it was Robinson who had 
done the deed. 0 Tom Robinson passed by his house everyday and, he added 
without a trace of irony, that his black neighbors were "devaluin' my 
property."81 Ewell quickly left the stand when Mr. Gilmer finished, only to run 
into Atticus as he rose for cross-examination, providing everyone with a brief 
moment of levity. 

Atticus first secured agreement from Ewell that he had not called a doctor 
that evening ... He also got Ewell to affirm Sheriff Tate's testimony regarding 
Mayella's injuries. "I holds with Tate. Her eye was blacked and she was mighty 
beat up."82 Then Atticus seemed to go off on a tangent. His next question was: 
"Mr. Ewell, can you read and write?"83 This drew an objection from the 
prosecutor, but Judge Taylor allowed Atticus some leeway. Not seeing what 
was ahead, Scout thought Atticus "had gone frog-sticking without a light."84 

Atticus asked if Ewell could demonstrate his ability to write his name and Ewell 
obliged, signing his name with his left hand. This was noted on the record by 
Judge Taylor. 8 Without quite realizing, what had happened, but sensing that 
Atticus had somehow made a Eoint, Ewell finished with one more racist outburst 
before Atticus dismissed him. 6 

C. MAYELLAEWELL 

While Bob Ewell was a cocky and defiant witness, Mayella Ewell was 
reserved and tentative. Mr. Gilmer patiently took her through the events of the 
evening and she responded very reluctantly. 87 As the story haltingly came out, 
Mayella was sitting on the front porch at dusk when Tom Robinson walked by. 
She asked him to help with chopping up an old dresser, a chiffarobe, for 
kindling. 88 Robinson entered the yard and when Mayella went into the house to 
fetch payment, he attacked and raped her.89 Mr. Gilmer reinforced her 
accusation: "You are positive that he took full advantage of you?"90 "He done 
what he was after[,]" she replied.91 

Clearly intimidated by the cross-examination of her father, Mayella was 
even less forthcoming when it was Atticus' s turn. He tried to defuse the 

80. Id at 200. 
81. Id 
82. Id at 201. 
83. Id at 202. 
84. Id 
85. Id at 203. 
86. Id 
87. Id at 204-05. 
88. Id at 205. 
89. Id at 206. 
90. Id 
91. Id 
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situation by starting with safe questions, like "[h]ow old are you?", but she 
resisted at every step.92 Eventually, with Judge Taylor's help, Atticus began to 
fill out a narrative ofMayella's home life. The oldest of eight children, with no 
mother and a father who was often absent, Mayella essentially ran the household, 
living off the relief check, to the.extent that their father did not drink it up. 93 

[Atticus]: Who are your friends? 
[Mayella]: Friends? 
[Atticus]: Yes, don't you know anyone near your age ... ? 
Mayella's hostility, which had subsided to grudging neutrality, flared 

again. t'You makin' fun o'me agin, Mr. Finch?" 
Atticus let her question answer his. 
[ Atticus]: Do you love your father, Miss Mayella? 
[Mayella]: Love him, whatcha mean? 
[Atticus]: I mean, is he good to you, is he easy to get along with? 
[Mayella]: He does tollable, 'cept when-
[Atticus]: Except when? 
Mayella looked at her father, who was sitting with his chair tipped 

against the railing. He sat up straight and waited for her to answer. 
[Mayella]: Except when nothin' ... I said he does tollable. 
Mr. Ewell leaned back again. 
[ Atticus]: Except when he's drinking? 
Atticus asked so gently that Mayella nodded. 
[ Atticus]: Does he ever go after you? 
[Mayella]: How you mean? 
[Atticus]: When he's-riled, has he ever beaten you? 
Mayella looked around, down at the court· reporter, up at the judge. 

"Answer the question, Miss Mayella," said Judge Taylor. 
"My paw's never touched a hair o' my head in my life," she declared 

firmly. "He never touch~d me."94 

Atticus then moved the questioning to the case at hand. Atticus asked if 
Mayella knew Tom Robinson. 

[Mayella]: I knowed who he was, he passed the house every 
day. 

[ Atticus]: Was this the first time you asked him to come 
inside the fence? 

[Mayella]: Yes, it was. 
[ Atticus]: Didn't you ask him to come inside the fence 

before? 
[Mayella]: I did not, I certainly did not. 95 

92. !d. at 207. 
93. !d. at 208. 
94. !d. at 209-10. 
95. !d. at 210. 



66 SOUTH DAKOTA LAW REVIEW 

Atticus then went over her testimony about the attack. 
[ Atticus]: You said Tom Robinson was behind you in the 

room when you turned around? 
[Mayella]: Yes. 
[Atticus]: You said he "got you around the neck cussing and 

saying dirt-is that right? 
[Mayella]: 't's right.' 
[ Atticus]: You say "he caught me and choked me and took 

advantage of me." 
[Mayella]: That's what I said.96 

Vol. 61 

Mayella was less certain about whether Robinson hit her on the face. "No, 
I don't recollect if he hit me. I mean yes I do, he hit me."97 Atticus then made 
her do an in-court identification, a task usually undertaken with relish by the 
prosecutor. Atticus's purpose, however, was to have Tom Robinson stand so 
that the jury could see his withered left arm. 98 This visual was powerful and 
Atticus did not fear another repetition of the charge. 

[Atticus]: Is this the man who raped you? 
[Mayella]: It most certainly is.99 

[ Atticus]: How? 100 

After further sparring with Mayella over the details of the attack, Atticus 
then launched into a series of questions: 

[Atticus]: You were screaming all this time? 
[Mayella]: I certainly was. 
[Atticus]: Then why didn't the other children hear you? 

Where were they? At the dump? 
No answer. 
[Atticus]: Where were they? Why didn't your screams make 

them come running? The dump's closer than the 
woods, isn't it? 

No answer. 
[Atticus]: Or didn't you scream until you saw your father in 

the window? You didn't think to scream until 
then, did you? 

No answer. 

96. !d. at 210-11. 
97. !d. at 211. 
98. !d. at 212. 
99. !d. 

100. !d. This visual alone makes the defense apparent to everyone in the courtroom. Jem could see 
from the balcony that Tom's withered left arm was about twelve inches shorter than his right and hung 
dead at his side. !d. In the movie version, the screenwriter makes the point by having Atticus throw a 
glass to Tom, which Tom catches with his right hand. When Atticus asks him to catch the glass next 
time with his left hand, Tom says he cannot do it. To KILL A MOCKINGBIRD (Universal International 
Pictures 1962). 
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[ Atticus]: Did you scream first at your father instead of at 
Tom Robinson? Was that it? 

No answer. 
[ Atticus]: Who beat you up? Tom Robinson or your father? 
No answer. 
[ Atticus]: What did your father see in the window, the crime 

of rape or the best defense to it? Why don't you 
tell the truth, child, didn't Bob Ewell beat you 
up?1o1 

67 

Atticus turned away from the witness and sat down. Mayella then said: "I 
got somethin' to say."102 Atticus looked up. "Do you want to tell us what 
happened?"103 Mayella responded in anger: 

"I got somethin' to say an' then I ain't gonna say no more. That 
n***** yonder took advantage of me an' if you fine fancy 
gentlemen don't wanna do nothin' about it then you're all yellow 
stinkin' cowards, stinkin' cowards, the lot of you. Your fancy airs 
don't come to nothin'-your ma'amin' and Miss Mayellerin' don't 
come to nothin', Mr. Finch.104 

With that, Mayella burst into tears and had nothing more to say. She refused to 
answer any more questions from Mr. Gilmer and eventual?' left the witness 
stand, glaring with hatred at Atticus as she passed him by. 10 The prosecution 
rested and Judge Taylor called a recess. 

D. TOM ROBINSON 

The defendant's testimony began with a visual: 
Thomas Robinson reached around, ran his fingers under his left arm 
and lifted it. He guided his arm to the Bible and his rubber-like left 
hand sought contact with the black binding. As he raised his right 
hand, the useless one slipped off the Bible and hit the clerk's table. 
He was trying again when Judge Taylor growled, "That'll do, 
Tom." Tom took the oath and stepped into the witness chair.106 

After introducing Tom to the jury, Atticus started the examination with 
Tom's conviction once for disorderly conduct. "Got in a fight with another man, 
he tried to cut me."107 He served his sentence, thirty days, and that was it. 

[Atticus]: Were you acquainted with Mayella Violet Ewell? 

101. LEE, supra note 1, at 213-14. 
102. Id at 214. 
103. Id 
104. Id at214. 
105. Id at 215. 
106. Id at217. 
107. Id 
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[Tom]: Yes suh, I had to pass her place goin' to and from 
the field every day .... 

[Atticus]: [D]id she ever speak to you? 
[Tom]: Why, yes suh, I'd tip m'hat when I'd go by, and 

one day she asked me to come inside the fence and 
bust up a chiffarobe for her. 108 

Vol. 61 

Tom did so, refused to accept any payment, and left. Tom further explained 
when this communication occurred. 

[Tom]: [W]ay last spring, way over a year ago. 
[ Atticus]: Did you ever go on the place again? 
[Tom]: Yes ... lots of times .... Seemed like every time I 

passed by yonder she'd have some little somethin' 
for me to do-choppin' kindlin', to tin' water for 
her. 

[ Atticus]: Were you paid for your services? 
[Tom]: No suh, not after she offered me a nickel the first 

time. I was glad to do it, Mr. Ewell didn't seem to 
help her none, and neither did the chillun, and I 
knowed she didn't have no nickels to spare. 

[ Atticus]: Where were the other children? 
[Tom]: They was always around, all over the place .... 
[Atticus]: Would Mayella talk to you? 
[Tom]: Yes .... 
[Atticus]: Did you ever ... go on the Ewell property without 

[Tom]: 
an express invitation ... ? 
No suh, Mr. Finch, I never did. I wouldn't do that, 
suh.109 

Atticus then asked Tom about the events of November 21. Tom said, "I 
was goin' home as usual that evenin', an' when I passed the Ewell place Miss 
Mayella were on the porch, like she said she were."110 She asked him to come 
inside the fence. She said, "I got somethin' for you to do in the house."111 She 
said the old door was off its hinges and motioned for him to come inside. Tom 
went inside and looked at the door, but there was nothing wrong with it. He 
wondered why the children were not there and Mayella told him they had all 
gone to town for ice cream. She said, "Took me a slap year to save seb'm 
nickels, but I done it. They all gone to town."112 

In that awkward moment, Tom tried to excuse himself because there was 
nothing he could do for her. But Mayella said that he could step on a chair and 

108. !d. at217-18. 
109. !d. at 218-19. 
110. !d. at 220. 
111. !d. 
112. !d. 
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retrieve for her a box on top of a tall chiffarobe. As he did so, she grabbed him 
around his legs. 

[Atticus]: 
[Tom]: 

[Atticus]: 
[Tom]: 

[Atticus]: 
[Tom]: 

[Atticus]: 

What happened after that? 
Mr. Finch, I got down offa that chair an' turned 
around an' she sortajumped on me. 
Jumped on you? Violently? 
No suh, she-she hugged me. She hugged me 
round the waist. ... 
And then what did she do?113 

She reached up an' kissed me side ofth' face. She 
says she never kissed a grown man before an' she 
might as well kiss an*****. She says what her 
papa do to her don't count. She says, "Kiss me 
back, n*****." I say Miss Mayella lemme outa 
here an' tried to run but she got her back to the 
door an' I'da had to push her. I didn't wanta harm 
her, Mr. Finch, an' I say lemme pass, but just when 
I say it Mr. Ewell yonder hollowed through th' 
window. 
What did he say? 

Tom Robinson swallowed again, and his eyes widened. 
[Tom]: Something' not fittin' to say-not fittin' for these 

folks'n chillun to hear-
[Atticus]: What did he say, Tom? You must tell the jury 

what he said. 
Tom Robinson shut his eyes tight. 
[Tom]: He says you goddarnn whore, I'll kill ya. 114 

At that point, Tom ran. 
[Atticus]: Why did you run? 
[Tom]: I was scared, suh. 
[ Atticus]: Why were you scared? 
[Tom]: Mr. Finch, if you was an***** like me, you'd be 

scared, too.115 

Cross-examination started with the prior conviction for disorderly conduct 
and then went to the question of Tom's strength. 

[Gilmer]: [Y]ou're pretty good at busting up chiffarobes and 
kindling with one hand, aren't you? 

[Tom]: Yes .... 
[Gilmer]: Strong enough to choke the breath out of a woman 

and sling her to the floor? 

113. !d. at 221-22. 
114. Id at 222. 
115. Id at 223. 
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[Tom]: I never done that, suh. 
[Gilmer]: But you are strong enough to? 
[Tom]: I reckon so, suh.116 

Gilmer turned around Tom's story of generosity and insinuated that Tom may 
have had an ulterior motive for helping out. 

[Gilmer]: Why were you so anxious to do that woman's 
chores? 

[Tom]: Looked like she didn't have nobody to help her .... 
[9ilmer]: With Mr. Ewell and seven children on the place, 

boy? 
[Tom]: It looked like they never helped her none-
Mr. Gilmer smiled grimly at the jury. 
[Gilmer]: You're a mighty good fellow, it seems-did all 

this for not one penny? 
[Tom]: Yes suh. I felt right sorry for her, she seemed to 

try more'n the rest of 'em-
[Gilmer]: You felt sorry for her, you felt sorry for her? 
Mr. Gilmer seemed ready to rise to the ceiling. 
The witness realized his mistake and shifted uncomfortably in 

the chair. But the damage was done. Below us, nobody liked Tom 
Robinson's answer. Mr. Gilmer paused a long time to let it sink 
in.117 

Mr. Gilmer finished with the flight issue: 
[Gilmer]: Didn't Mr. Ewell run you off the place, boy? 
[Tom]: No suh, I don't think he did. 
[Gilmer]: Don't think, what do you mean? 
[Tom]: I mean I didn't stay long enough for him to run me 

off. 
[Gilmer]: You're very candid about this, why did you run so 

fast? 
[Tom]: I says I was scared, suh. 
[Gilmer]: If you had a clear conscience, why were you 

scared? 
[Tom]: Like I says before, it weren't safe for any n***** 

to be in a-fix like that. 
I 

[Gilmer]: But you weren't in a fix-you testified that you 

116. Id at 224. 

were resisting Miss Ewell. Were you so scared 
that she'd hurt you, you ran, a big buck like you? 

117. Id at 225. It seems that Tom's mistake was to imply a superior position to a white woman. 
So stratified were racial relations that even a simple act of kindness toward a white woman could be 
viewed as impertinent. An unfortunate example of"the personal is political." 
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[Tom]: 

[Gilmer]: 

[Tom]: 
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No suh, I's scared I'd be in court, just like I am 
now. 
Scared of arrest, scared you'd have to face up to 
what you did? 
No suh, scared I'd hafta face up to what I didn't 
do.118 

71 

All in all, Tom Robinson held up pretty well. With the testimony finished, 
it was now down to closing argument. 

E. FINAL ARGUMENT 

Scout missed the prosecution's close119 and part of Atticus's, as well. After 
reviewing the evidence, Atticus began his summation: 

"Gentlemen," he was saying, "I shall be brief, but I would like 
to use my remaining time with you to remind you that this case is 
not a difficult one, it requires no minute sifting of complicated facts, 
but it does require you to be sure beyond all reasonable doubt as to 
the guilt of the defengant. To begin with, this case should never 
have come to trial. This case is as simple as black and white.["] 

"The state has not produced one iota of medical evidence to 
the effect that the crime Tom Robinson is charged with ever took 
place. It has relied instead upon the testimony of two witnesses 
whose evidence has not only been called into serious question on 
cross-examination, but has been flatly contradicted by the 
defendant. The defendant is not guilty, but somebody in this 
courtroom is.["] 120 

With this, Atticus moved to the heart of the case-'-his view of what actually 
happened in the house and the reasons why: 

"I have nothing but pity in my heart for the chief witness for 
the state, but my pity does not extend so far as to her putting a 
man's life at stake, which she has done in an effort to get rid of her 
own guilt.["] 

"I say guilt, gentlemen, because it was guilt that motivated her. 
She has committed no crime, she has merely broken a rigid and 
time-honored code of our society . . . . She knew full well the 
enormity of her offense, but because her desires were stronger than 
the code she was breaking, she persisted in breaking it. She 
persisted, and her subsequent reaction is something that all of us 
have known at one time or another. She did something every child 
has done-she tried to put the evidence of her offense away from 
her. But in this case she was no child hiding stolen contraband: she 

118. Id at 226. 
119. Jem explained to Scout that it was "[n]othing new, just the usual. Hush now." !d. at 231. 
120. Id at 231-32. 
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struck out at her victim . . . . She must destroy the evidence of her 
offense.["] 

"What was the evidence of her offense? Tom Robinson, a 
human being. She must put Tom Robinson away from her. Tom 
Robinson was her daily reminder of what she did. What did she do? 
She tempted a Negro.["] 

"She was white, and she tempted a Negro. She did something 
that in our society is unspeakable: she kissed a black man. Not an 
old Uncle, but a strong young Negro man. No code mattered to her 
before she broke it, but it came crashing down on her afterwards.["] 

"Her father saw it, and the defendant has testified as to his 
remarks. What did her father do? We don't know, but there is 
circumstantial evidence to indicate that Mayella Ewell was beaten 
savagely by someone who led almost exclusively with his left . . . 
and Tom Robinson now sits before you, having taken the oath with 
the only good hand he possesses-his right hand.["] 121 

Vol. 61 

Atticus then addressed the credibility issue and the underlying assumption 
that had to be identified openly: 

"And so a quiet, respectable, humble Negro who had the 
unmitigated temerity to 'feel sorry' for a white woman has had to 
put his word against two white people's. I need not remind you of 
their appearance and conduct on the stand-you saw them for 
yourselves. The witnesses for the state, with the exception of the 
sheriff of Maycomb County, have presented themselves to you 
gentlemen, to this court, in the cynical confidence that their 
testimony would not be doubted .... ["] 122 

Atticus closed with an appeal to core values, rightly understood. That is, he 
had to appeal to the jurors' own values and show that a not guilty verdict would 
be consistent with those values: 

"One more thing, gentlemen, before I quit. Thomas Jefferson 
once said that all men are created equal, a phrase that the Yankees 
and the distaff side of the Executive branch in Washington are fond 
of hurling at us. There is a tendency in this year of grace, 1935, for 
certain people to use this phrase out of context, to satisfy all 
conditions. . . . We know all men are not created equal in the sense 
some people would have us believe-some people are smarter than 
others, some people have more opportunity because they're born 
with it, some men make more money than others, some ladies make 
better cakes than others-some people are born gifted beyond the 
normal scope of most men.["] 

"But there is one way in this country in which all men are 
created equal-there is one human institution that makes a pauper 

121. !d. at 232-33. 
122. !d. at 233. 
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the equal of a Rockefeller, the stupid man the equal of an Einstein, 
and the ignorant man the equal of any college president. That 
institution, gentlemen, is a court. It can be the Supreme Court of 
the United States or the humblest J.P. court in the land, or this 
honorable court which you serve. Our courts have their faults, as 
does any human institution, but in this country our courts are the 
great levelers, and in our courts all men are created equal.["] 

"I'm no idealist to believe firmly in the integrity of our courts 
and in the jury system-that is no ideal to me, it is a living, working 
reality. 'Gentlemen, a court is no better than each man of you sitting 
before me on this jury. A court is only as sound as its jury, and a 
jury is only as sound as the men who make it up. I am confident 
that you gentlemen will review without passion the evidence you 
have heard, come to a decision, and restore this defendant to his 
family. In the name of God, do your duty." 

Atticus' s voice had dropped, and as he turned away from the 
jury he said something I did not catch. He said it more to himself 
than to the court. I punched Jem "What'd he say?" 

"'In the name of God, believe him,' I think that's what he 
said."123 

73 

Atticus's argument sought to show how "all men are created equal" 
furthered the community interest. In appealing to the better part of their nature, 
he also appealed to their self-interest. Making the decision based on the 
evidence, not on assumptions tied to centuries-old prejudice, affirms the rule of 
law that protects all members of the community. The appeal to the better part of 
the jurors' nature, of course, assumed that such better nature existed. I think it 
did exist, although it was still latent and not strong enough to overcome centuries 
of prejudice at that point. But it was there, and Atticus's appeal to them 
reflected a cautious optimism that prejudice could be overcome with a principled 
application of the rule of law. 

F. THE VERDICT AND AFTERMATH 

The crowd hardly stirred while everyone waited with anticipation on the 
jury's decision. After more than three hours of deliberations, the answer finally 
came: guilty. What followed seemed almost anti-climactic, until the scene 
quietly closed with the story's most powerful image: 

I saw Atticus pushing papers from the table into his briefcase. 
He snapped it shut, went to the court reporter and said something, 
nodded to Mr. Gilmer, and then went to Tom Robinson and 
whispered something to him. Atticus put his hand on Tom's 
shoulder as he whispered. Atticus took his coat off the back of his 

123. Id at 233-34. 
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chair and pulled it over his shoulder. Then he left the courtroom, 
but not by his usual exit. He must have wanted to go home the 
short way, because he walked quickly down the middle aisle toward 
the south exit. I followed the top of his head as he made his way to 
the door. He did not look up. 

Someone was punching me, but I was reluctant to take my 
eyes from the people below us, and from the image of Atticus's 
lonely walk down the aisle. 

"Miss Jean Louise?" 
I looked around. They were standing. All around us and in 

the balcony on the opposite wall, the Negroes were getting to their 
feet. Reverand Syke's voice was as distant as Judge Taylor's: 

"Miss Jean Louise, stand up. Your father's passin'."124 

Vol. 61 

If there is any hope to be drawn from this story of a crushing, soul-numbing 
defeat, it is in the nobility of that lonely walk and the respect offered by the 
community whose life-long experience with manifest injustice had not yet 
snuffed out the expectation that justice would someday come. "We shall 
overcome someday."125 Indeed. That is what the scene expresses without words 
or music. Atticus's appeal to the jury had resonated with the observers and they 
gave him their deeply-felt respect. 

"It ain't right, Atticus," said Jem. "No son, it's not right."126 Later, Atticus 
talked about it with Jem: 

"Those are twelve reasonable men in everyday life, Tom's 
jury, but you saw something come between them and reason. You 
saw the same thing that night in front of the jail. When that crew 
went away, they didn't go as reasonable men, they went because we 
were there. There's something in our world that makes men lose 
their heads-they couldn't be fair if they tried. In our courts, when 
it's a white man's word against a black man's, the white man 
always wins. They're ugly, but those are the facts of life." 

"Doesn't make it right," said Jem stolidly. He beat his fist 
softly on his knee. "You just can't convict a man on evidence like 
that-you can't." 

"You couldn't, but they could and did. The older you grow the 
more of it you'll see. The one place where a man ought to get a 
square deal is in a courtroom, be he any color of the rainbow, but 
people have a way of carrying their resentments right into a jury 
box.["] 127 

124. /d. at 241-42. 
125. See Pierva, Joan Baez-We shall overcome, YOUTUBE (Dec. 29, 2007), 

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=RkNsEH1GD7Q; Kortland Whalum, Morehouse College-We Shall 
Overcome, YOUTUBE (Jun. 26, 2009), https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Aor6-DkzBJO. 

126. LEE, supra note 1, at 243. 
127. /d. at 252-53. 
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Carrying resentments is a two-way street and Atticus recognized that one 
day there would be a reckoning: "Don't fool yourselves-it's all adding up and 
one of these days we're going to pay the bill for it. I hope it's not in you 
children's time."128 

For Bob Ewell, affirmation by the jury had not been enough. He was angry 
that he had been exposed. He stopped Atticus on the post office comer, spat in 
his face, and told him he would get him if it took the rest of his life. 129 Ewell's 
life ended shortly thereafter, however, as he was taken out by the recluse, Boo 
Radley, who saved Scout and Jem from a vicious attack. 130 

And so, Atticus began preparation for the appeal. But that was not to be, as 
Tom Robinson was killed in prison, shot while trying to escape. 131 Up to that 
point, he had waited patiently for justice. Despite misgivings, he had trusted 
Atticus. He ran out of both, and immediately paid the price. But Tom's fictional 
death was not in vain. There is much that we can learn from this story. 

IV. WHAT THE TRIAL OF TOM ROBINSON TEACHES US 

Stories connect characters and events with deeply held beliefs. 132 The 
immediate success of To Kill a Mockingbird is evidence of that. In the 1960s, 
amidst the Civil Rights struggle, this novel and, later, the movie, found an 
appreciative audience. Why? This was not a happy story .. There was overt 
racism and other moral ugliness, violence, and injustice. The moral 
infrastructure of this community, seemingly decent as the story of the Finch 
family in Maycomb unfolded, was revealed to have deep flaws. The legal 
system failed in the most fundamental sense. Although it may have delivered 
procedural fairness, albeit with a close call the night before the trial, the end 
result was horrific. Yet this is a story of hope and, ultimately, triumph. The 
triumph could not be fully realized within the story, but the course of race 
relations in America was irrevocably altered by this fictional trial for the good. 

Trials are moral stories, often pushing both participants and observers to 
consider the nature of good and evil. Trials can teach us about ourselves and 
about others. They instruct us about the exercise of judgment. They are highly 

128. !d. at 253. Without necessarily providing justification for actions taken later in Ferguson, 
Missouri, for example, Atticus's words here are prophetic. 

129. !d. at 249. '"I wish Bob Ewell wouldn't chew tobacco,' was all Atticus said about it." !d. 
Actually, there was more. Atticus was always careful in instructing his children, and he gave them this 
most charitable construction of the situation: 

!d. at 250. 

"[Bob Ewell] meant it when he said it," said Atticus. "Jem, see if you can stand in Bob 
Ewell's shoes a minute. I destroyed his last shred of credibility at that trial, if he had any 
to begin with. The man had to have some kind of comeback, his kind always does. So if 
spitting in my face and threatening me saved Mayella Ewell one extra beating, that's 
something I'll gladly take. He had to take it out on somebody and I'd rather it be me than 
that houseful of children out there. You understand?" 

130. !d. at 312-14. 
131. !d. at 269. 
132. See Jonathan K. Van Patten, Storytelling for Lawyers, 57 S.D. L. REV. 239, 244-46 (2012). 
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revealing of character. Trials serve as a laboratory where we can view the 
practical consequences of ideas, both good and bad. One of those ideas is the 
rule of law. The rule of law, in contrast to rule by fiat, means the outcome is 
governed by a rule outside of the immediate parties to the dispute. In a well­
ordered society, the rules have been determined in advance through a process 
that is fair. In less well-ordered societies, the rules may have been determined 
through tradition or accident. However, the rule of law still is meaningful if the 
rules are followed without regard to personal identity. This is what Atticus 
meant when he said that in the court "all men are created equal."133 

There are two rules of law that are very important in this case. The first is 
the presumption of innocence and the second is that before the government can 
deprive a person of life or liberty, it must prove the charge beyond a reasonable 
doubt. When a juror takes an oath to serve on a jury, a promise is made to 
follow the rules of law as instructed by the judge. And yet, as Atticus observed, 
the jurors could not put aside the prejudices they brought with them. They 
carried their resentments into the jury box. 134 When the rule of law is not 
followed, it is often replaced by, as it was here, what may be called tribalism. 
Tribalism puts aside the rule and simply arrives at a decision that either benefits 
a member of the "tribe"135 or punishes one who is not a member. Here, the 
jurors closed ranks and backed their tribe. 

Atticus was fighting another battle that many lawyers face. The parties are 
entitled to have the case tried on the evidence in the record. Atticus addressed 
this when he argued against "assumptions" rather than relying on the evidence in 
the case.136 The assumption here was that in any dispute, the word of the white 
man (and white woman) was to be preferred over the word of a black man. This 
means ultimately that the identity of the speaker is more important than what is 
being said. This deprives the adversely affected party of the right to have the 
case tried on the evidence in the record. 

133. LEE, supra note 1, at 234. 
134. !d. at 253. 
135. I am using "tribe" in the sense of a one's own group, association, company, party, team, or 

gang. Here, the "tribe" for these jurors is white people. They automatically supported the member of 
their tribe without regard to the facts. I am in no way suggesting any criticism of tribes as such, only 
tribalism as defined herein. Tribalism is at the root of identity politics. My country, right or wrong, 
would be an example. 

!d. 

136. LEE, supra note 1, at 233. 
The witnesses for the state, with the exception of the sheriff of Maycomb County, have 
presented themselves to you gentlemen, to this court, in the cynical confidence that their 
testimony would not be doubted, confident that you gentlemen would go along with them 
on the assumption-the evil assumption-that all Negroes lie, that all Negroes are 
basically immoral beings, that all Negro men are not to be trusted around our women, an 
assumption one associates with minds of their caliber. 

Which, gentlemen, we know is in itself a lie as black as Tom Robinson's skin, a lie 
I do not have to point out to you. You know the truth, and the truth is this: some Negroes 
lie, some Negroes are immoral, some Negro men are not to be trusted around women­
black or white. But this is a truth that applies to the human race and to no particular race 
of men. 
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What do we learn from Judge Ta~lor's decision to appoint Atticus to defend 
Tom Robinson? It was no accident. 13 Only Atticus could take the trial where it 
needed to go-not necessarily to win the hearts and minds of the people of 
Maycomb-but to push ("a baby-step") in the right direction. In that direction, 
Atticus relied on fundamental principles, including the rule of law and the 
statement from the Declaration of Independence that "all men are created equal." 
These core principles were the means of persuasion. Atticus followed his own 
frequent admonition to his children that one must "walk in the shoes" of another 
in order to understand that person. 138 This did not mean pandering, but rather 
approaching the issue from the standpoint of shared values. The shared values 
were clearly not on the surface. Atticus had to dig deep to reach them. Although 
he was not successful with the jury, his resort to these shared values was not 
without effect, as illustrated by this post-trial assessment: 

"Tom's jury sho' made up its mind in a hurry," Jem muttered. 
Atticus's fingers went to his watchpocket. "No it didn't," he 

said, more to himself than to us. "That was the one thing that made 
me think, well, this may be the shadow of a beginning. That jury 
took a few hours. An inevitable verdict, maybe, but usually it takes 
'em just a few minutes. This time-" he broke off and looked at us. 
"You might like to know that there was one fellow who took 
considerable wearing down-in the beginning he was rarin' for an 
outright acquittal." 139 

Who? One of the Cunninghams, part of the group that came to the jail with 
murderous intent. Jem was astonished. "One minute they're tryin' to kill him 
and the next they're tryin' to turn him loose ... I'll never understand those folks 
as long as I live."140 

Atticus said you just had to know 'em. He said the Cunninghams 
hadn't taken anything from or off of anybody since they migrated to 
the New World. He said the other thing about them was, once you 
earned their respect they were for you tooth and nail. Atticus said 
he had a feeling, nothing more than a suspicion, that they left the 
jail that night with considerable respect for the Finches. 141 

137. Court-appointed defenses were usually given to Maxwell Green, Maycomb's latest addition to 
the bar, who needed the experience. Maxwell Green should have had Tom Robinson's case. 

Id. at 247. 

"You think about that;' Miss Maude was saying. "It was no accident . . . . I waited and 
waited to see you all come down the sidewalk, and as I waited I thought, Atticus Finch 
won't win, he can't win, but he's the only man in these parts who can keep a jury out so 
long in a case like that. And I thought to myself, well, we're making a step-it's just a 
baby-step, but it's a step." 

138. Id. at 250. 
139. Id at 254. 
140. Id at 255. 
141. Id 
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Jem was still incredulous: "You mean you actually put on the jury a man 
who wanted to kill you the night before? How could you take such a risk, 
Atticus, how could you?"142 Atticus responded: 

"When you analyze it, there was little risk. There's no difference 
between one man who's going to convict and another man who's 
going to convict, is there? There's a faint difference between a man 
who's going to convict and a man who's a little disturbed in his 
mind, isn't there? He was the only uncertainty on the whole 
list."143 

Atticus did not succeed, but the length of deliberation was a "shadow of a 
beginning."144 

Although Attic us's actions were informed by adherence to fundamental 
principles, they should not be taken as prescriptions for all times and all places. 
One always acts in the present and each situation is therefore different. The 
criticism of Atticus that he was too accepting of racist attitudes and customs 
misses this point. His inaction should not be taken as an implicit endorsement of 
the faults of others. We do not live in that world today. Thank God. But there 
is much we can learn from Atticus. He represented a client whose very identity 
precluded an honest consideration of the facts by those who were deeply 
invested in a non-factual narrative, that is, invested in their own tribe, with all 
the accompanying resentments. Atticus was acting in the moment. If you want 
to go somewhere, you have to start with where you are. 145 Atticus could not 
have won the case by attacking the jurors. Clearly. But he also could not have 
had any impact on the jury (which he did), or on the community (which he did), 
or on us (which he has), except by appealing to shared values. This small 
moment has had large conseauences, much like the story of Uncle Tom's Cabin 
did in the previous century. 14 

Atticus fulfilled his duty of zealous representation within the ethical 
boundaries. His advocacy must be viewed in light of his honest conviction that 
Tom Robinson was innocent. He was not indifferent to the truth of the matter. 
He was required to test the veracity of the prosecution's witnesses and this led to 
his assertion that it was Mayella who was the aggressor. I share Harper Lee's 
belief in Tom Robinson's innocence. The author's story makes no sense if we 
ascribe to her a post-modem agnosticism on this issue. And the author inserted 

142. !d. 
143. !d. 
144. This is also an example of good judgment coming from walking in another's shoes. 
145. I am indebted to Professor Michael Munger of Duke University for teaching me the 

significance of this principle at the Henry G. Manne Program in Law and Economics Studies, LEC 
Workshop of Law Professors on the Economics of the Rule of Law, December 11-14, 2015, Miami, FL. 

146. HARRIET BEECHER STOWE, UNCLE TOM'S CABIN (Chios Classics ed. 2015). Originally 
appearing in serial form over nine months in an anti-slavery newspaper and published as a novel in 1852, 
Uncle Tom's Cabin sold more than two million copies within its first decade, making it the best seller of 
all time in proportion to population. When President Lincoln met the author in 1862, he reportedly said: 
"So you're the little woman who wrote the book that made this great war." JAMES M. McPHERSON, 
BATTLE CRY OF FREEDOM: THE CIVIL WAR ERA 88-90 (1988). 
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her belief in Tom Robinson's innocence through her presentation of the 
evidence. Tom Robinson's testimony about the absence of the children is 
compelling. Neither Bob Ewell nor Mayella mentioned this in their testimony, 
but it must have been so. 147 The children were always there, not at school, or 
elsewhere. They were always there. And yet it is evident that they were not 
there that evening. The events described by Bob Ewell and Mayella could not 
have happened without at least one of the kids, more likely several, being 
witnesses. The absence of the children strongly suggests they had been sent 
away, as Tom had testified. 148 Atticus had pity for Mayella, but not so much 
that he would let her charge go without challenge. He could not do otherwise. 

What is the larger duty of a lawyer within the community, especially when 
that community has serious moral problems? Atticus was a witness. He was a 
witness not only at trial, but also for his children, for the legal profession, and for 
the community of which he was a part. Being a witness did not mean that he 
could not give respect for the opinions of others, even when they were wrong. 
Atticus remained in the community as a witness. He did not leave. And the 
community was better for it. 149 

What do we learn from Atticus when justice does not prevail? While defeat 
is disappointing, even crushing, there are important benefits if the losing effort 
furthers the cause of justice in the long run. Atticus' s witness has inspired 
lawyers to be better lawyers, and many people around the world to be better 
citizens. Tom Robinson's witness, too, inspires us. His courage remains as a 
witness, even as one reader lamented: "Tom Robinson is dead! Why am I 
supposed to feel good about this book?"150 Defeat is built into the story. The 
novel most likely would have been quickly forgotten if it had a not-so-unhappy 
ending. Some stories are tragedies. And it is precisely because of their nature 
that we learn from them. We learn how character flaws, bad judgments, evil 
forces, and sheer bad luck lead to unfortunate consequences. Harper Lee said 

147. Actually, Mayella implicitly affirmed this fact by failing to respond to Atticus's repeated 
questioning about where the children were at the time of the purported attack. LEE, supra note 1, at 213. 

148. This is reminiscent of the Sherlock Holmes story in which the dog did not bark. Holmes was 
speaking to a Scotland Yard detective and the following exchange took place: 

Detective: Is there any other point to which you would wish to draw my attention? 
Holmes: To the curious incident of the dog in the night-time. 
Detective: The dog did nothing in the night-time. 
Holmes: That was the curious incident. 

SIR ARTHUR CONAN DOYLE, WORKS OF SIR ARTHUR CONAN DOYLE (Longmeadow Press 1984). 
Holmes concluded from the fact that the dog did not bark that the dog was familiar with the intruder. 
The absence of the children at the crucial moment is the curious incident. It suggests that they had been 
sent away and their absence from Mayella's testimony seriously calls into question her account of a 
spontaneous, unprovoked attack by Tom. 

149. Speaking to Jem and Scout, Miss Maudie said: "I simply want to tell you that there are some 
men in this world who were born to do our unpleasant jobs for us. Your father's one of them." LEE, 
supra note 1, at 246. 

150. See Teresa Godwin Phelps, Atticus, Thomas, and the Meaning of Justice, 77 NOTRE DAME L. 
REv. 925, 929 (2002). See generally Teresa Godwin Phelps, The Margins of Maycomb: A Rereading of 
To Kill a Mockingbird, 45 Ala. L. Rev. 511 (1994); Peter Zwick, Rethinking Atticus Finch, 60 CASE W. 
REs. L. REV. 1349 (2010). 
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she wanted to be "the Jane Austen of south Alabama." 151 She succeeded well 
beyond anyone's expectations with her magnificent portrayal of unforgettable 
characters who have given us a witness of how to live, even in the small town of 
Maycomb, Alabama. 

V. CONCLUSION 

Dr. Martin Luther King was fond of quoting the black preacher who said: 
"We ain't what we should be and we ain't what we gonna be, but thank God, we 
ain't what we once was."152 One of the reasons why we are not what we once 
were is because of Harper Lee. The shadow of a beginning emerged out of this 
very dark tale. It finally became much more than a shadow because Lee's moral 
vision inspired us to want to be better. Her ability in this story to reach our 
deeply rooted values has helped us to make sense of our own troubled history. 
We, too, stand in respect, as our father, Atticus Finch, is passin'. 

151. HEY Boo, supra note 3. 
152. Karen Grigsby Bates, 'Thank God, We Ain't What We Was', L.A. TIMES (July 9, 1998), 

http:/ /articles.latimes.com/1998/ju1/09/local/me-20 15. 


